THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2015-001921

RECEIVED

OCT 23 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Denise Wright Petitioner

v.

PRG Real Estate Management,
Inc.; Franklin Pineridge
Associates; Karen Campbell
Individually, and in her
Representative Capacity as an
Agent of PRG Real Estate
Management

..... Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

S. Randall Hood
Jordan C. Calloway
Deborah G. Casey
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC
1539 Health Care Drive
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 327-7800

E. Wayne Ridgeway, Jr.
Burriss Ridgeway
907 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-5842

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to apply Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 to Ms. Wright's allegation that Respondents voluntarily assumed a duty to secure their premises.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Denise Wright filed suit on June 24, 2011 against Respondents PRG Real Estate Management, Inc. (“PRG”), Franklin Pineridge Associates, and Karen Campbell for negligence, violation of implied warranties, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”). (App. pp. 78-84). The suit arose from a criminal attack against Ms. Wright on September 18, 2008, at the hands of two unidentified perpetrators. Respondents own or manage Wellspring Apartments, the complex where Ms. Wright lived and where she was attacked. Respondents contend they owed Ms. Wright no duty to reasonably secure Wellspring’s premises and that any of their alleged wrongdoings were not a proximate cause of Ms. Wright’s losses.

On September 23, 2013, the Honorable W. Jeffrey Young of the Richland County Court of Common Pleas entered summary judgment in Respondents’ favor on all claims. (App. pp. 56-76). Ms. Wright filed a timely notice of appeal for the negligence and SCUTPA claims on October 8, 2013. The Court of Appeals heard arguments on January 15, 2015. On July 15, 2015, a divided court affirmed summary judgment on both claims. (App. pp. 1-20). Judge Lockemy concurring in part and dissenting in part, stated that, while the SCUTPA claim should be dismissed, Ms. Wright was entitled to a trial on her negligence claim. *Id.* Ms. Wright submitted a timely petition for rehearing on July 23, 2015, relating solely to her negligence claim. (App. pp. 23-33). The petition was denied on August 20, 2015, with Judge Lockemy dissenting. (App. p. 21-22). Ms. Wright submitted a petition for writ of certiorari on September 15, 2015, asserting three proposed issues for review. The Court issued an order on August 25, 2017, granting review of one of Ms. Wright’s proposed issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Denise Wright became a tenant of Wellspring Apartments in the Harbison area of Columbia, South Carolina in May 2003 after considering at least two other apartment complexes in the area. (App. pp. 381-82). Wellspring was owned by Franklin Pineridge Associates, operated by PRG, and managed on a day-to-day basis by PRG employee Karen Campbell. (collectively Respondents). Ultimately, it was the amenities Respondents offered that convinced Ms. Wright to choose Wellspring over its competitors. (App. p. 382 at 40:13-21). Wellspring had a pool and offered its tenants access to the nearby Harbison Recreation Center. (App. p. 382 at 40:17-19). Most of all, Ms. Wright based her decision on Wellspring's security services. (App. p. 427 at 119:11-12). She was told Wellspring had security officers on duty who patrolled the premises. (App. p. 383 at 40:25-41:6; 391 at 56:7-8). Respondents told Ms. Wright to call the officers' cell phones or a "security pager" the officers carried if ever in need. (App. p. 501; 705 at 264:23 – 706 at 265:24). These security services were part of Respondents' courtesy officer program offered for tenant protection so that "if somebody needed somebody or needed assistance for anything, a courtesy officer would be there." (App. p. 697 at 229:2-6; 230:10-14).

On September 18, 2008 at approximately 10:30 p.m., Ms. Wright left choir practice and drove home to her apartment. (App. p. 357 ¶ 5; 392 at 58:3-7). When Ms. Wright arrived at Wellspring, she exited her car and walked toward the ramp leading to her front door. D. Wright Dep. (App. p. 395, at 63:13-15). The nearly full parking lot was dimly illuminated by pole lights and small dome lights in the buildings' breezeways. Many parts of the parking lot and the ramps leading to the building had little to no light illuminating the area. The pole light nearest Ms. Wright's car was not working. (App. p. 386 at 47:3-5). There was no sign of the security officers

Wellspring promised Ms. Wright when she moved in. The shrubs in front of her building were overgrown and capable of concealing unknown persons or potential assailants. (App. p. 446 ¶ 8).

As Ms. Wright neared the ramp and steps leading to her apartment, she was attacked by two men. (App. p. 396 at 65, lines 1-5). Ms. Wright could not see the perpetrators as she drove up and parked her car due to dense, overgrown, and much maligned shrubbery near the ramp, as well as the darkness enveloping her apartment building. (App. p. 395 at 63, lines 13-15; R. p. 357 ¶ 9-10). The men accosted Ms. Wright and shoved gun barrels in her face. (App. p. 396 at 65:9-13). Too scared to scream, Ms. Wright acceded to her attackers' demands. The perpetrators needed money and intended to pillage Ms. Wright's bank account to get it. No matter how much money the perpetrators could ultimately steal from Ms. Wright, she was assured that she would be killed when it was all over. Ms. Wright was pushed back toward her car and forced by her attackers to drive to various banks and withdraw hundreds of dollars. (App. p. 402-11). Along the way, the perpetrators repeatedly promised to kill Ms. Wright, telling her at one point, "You will never see home again." (App. p. 405 at 80, lines 7-8).

Unsatisfied with the amount of money in Ms. Wright's account and visibly nervous over some sort of drug debt they owed, the perpetrators forced Ms. Wright to park her car at a closed fast food restaurant behind a darkened shopping center. (App. p. 404 at 78 line 18 – 79 line 8; 406 at 82 line 21 - 83 line 7). Ms. Wright feared this was the moment she would be killed. One of the attackers said bluntly: "We've got to kill you." (App. p. 408 at 86 lines 17-18). The other attacker put his hand down the back of Ms. Wright's pants, called her "fatty ass," and pondered aloud taking Ms. Wright back to her apartment and "hav[ing] some fun before we kill her." (App. p. 422 at 110:9, 11). After several minutes, the perpetrators demanded Ms. Wright drive to a nearby apartment complex. During the drive, Ms. Wright was forced to listen as the

perpetrators debated how and when they would kill her. One suggested Ms. Wright's dead body should be thrown in a river. (App. p. 408 at 86 lines 16-19). Once at the apartment complex, the perpetrators fled the car. (App. p. 410-11 at 90, lines 5 – 22).

Ms. Wright drove away and went to her daughter's house. A police officer was dispatched to Ms. Wright's daughter's house and took her statement. Shortly after the attack, Ms. Wright met with Wellspring personnel. Ms. Wright had a single primary question for Wellspring, "Where [were] these security officers that are supposed to be walking the beat?" (App. p. 425 at 116, lines 16-17). The Wellspring representative could only shrug her shoulders and say, "I'm sorry." (App. p. 425 at 116 line 22).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To grant a motion for summary judgment, the circuit court must find that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." Rule 56(c), SCRCP. The judge is not to weigh the evidence but rather to determine if there is a genuine issue for trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986). For claims where the preponderance of evidence burden applies, "the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997); Pye v. Aycock, 325 S.C. 426, 480 S.E.2d 455 (Ct. App. 1997). Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000). An appellate court

“applies the same standard used by the [circuit] court” when reviewing a summary judgment order. Epstein v. Coastal Timber Co., 393 S.C. 276, 281, 711 S.E.2d 912, 915 (2011).

ARGUMENT

Columbia is a competitive residential rental market. Potential renters have options and property owners must offer a competitive bundle of services to entice tenants. Square footage and rent rates remain important but it is the extra services a landlord offers that may help it stand out from the pack. Respondents’ business at Wellspring Apartments succeeds by offering potential tenants more than just four walls and a roof. Respondents offer entertainment options like access to walking trails and a full-service recreation center. They also sell potential renters peace of mind by both promising and providing security services for tenants. Respondents do not just rent land or building space, they rent peoples’ homes, where they want and need to feel reasonably secure. For Denise Wright, a woman in her sixties living alone, it was Wellspring’s security program that helped sealed the deal. Unfortunately, it was also the security program that nearly cost Ms. Wright her life.

Ms. Wright was lured into a false sense of security by Respondents’ courtesy officer program, a robust service involving daily patrols by trained law enforcement personnel committed to rooting out suspicious activity and being available by phone and pager for tenants in need. When Ms. Wright decided to move to Wellspring rather than its neighboring competitors, the courtesy officer program was a crucial factor. However, at the time of her attack, the program Ms. Wright relied on was in shambles. There were no patrols to scare off her captors or to even make them nervous. There was no one to respond to calls for assistance. There was only pitch darkness and men leaping from behind an overgrown bush near Ms. Wright’s front door.

The courtesy officer program Respondents planned, undertook and used to secure Ms. Wright's tenancy failed her. In a split decision, the Court of Appeals held Respondents could not be held liable for the program's failures. As Judge Lockemy recognized in his dissent, that ruling is at odds with a long-standing common law rule that required Respondents to operate their voluntarily assumed courtesy officer program in a reasonable manner.

I. The Court of Appeals Applied the Wrong Standard to Ms. Wright's Duty Claim.

Ms. Wright's negligence claim alleges Respondents had a duty to conduct a reasonably prudent courtesy officer program at Wellspring because Respondents chose to undertake the program, because Ms. Wright relied on it when she moved to Wellspring and every day leading to her attack, and because the program's failures increased her risk of attack. To evaluate the Court of Appeals' analysis of this claim, the Court should start with two key principles. First, South Carolina law uses Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 to determine whether a party's voluntarily undertaken duty supports a tort claim. Second, the Court of Appeals' majority opinion did not cite or apply Section 323 to Ms. Wright's negligence claim.

Section 323 stands on its own firm doctrinal footing and may not be narrowed or ignored when considering a residential landlord's voluntarily assumed security program. In fact, Section 323's application is not at all dependent on common law duty theories created in the landlord-tenant context. See Cooke v. Allstate Mgmt. Corp., 741 F. Supp. 1205, 1209 (D.S.C. 1990) (outlining four landlord-specific duty theories); Cramer v. Balcor Prop. Mgmt., Inc., 848 F. Supp. 1222, 1224-25 (D.S.C. 1994) ("Cramer II") (considering the Cooke theories). These theories and Section 323 sometimes run on parallel tracks but the Cooke/Cramer theories are no substitute for a Section 323 analysis when a landlord is accused of creating and poorly performing an apartment security program. Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church, 329

S.C. 433, 445, 494 S.E.2d 827, 833 (Ct. App. 1997) (considering a landlord’s security program under both Section 323 and an independent common law rule); Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc., 413 S.C. 276, 295, 775 S.E.2d 399, 409-10 (Ct. App. 2015) (Lockemy J., dissenting) (citing Goode to show that a tenant “may be able to establish a duty owed by a landlord who has undertaken to provide security pursuant to section 323”).

Therefore, Section 323 is a glaring omission from the Court of Appeals’ analysis. If Section 323 had been properly applied, then Respondents’ summary judgment motion should have been denied. Respondent Karen Campbell, Wellspring’s property manager when Ms. Wright was assaulted, made three crucial admissions in her deposition testimony: (1) Respondents voluntarily undertook a courtesy officer program at Wellspring; (2) Respondents were required to conduct the program in a reasonable manner; and (3) The program was not administered as required by its governing documents. (App. p. 642 at 19:22-20:9; 648 at 44:6-19). These admissions, along with Ms. Wright’s statements and her expert’s testimony, were sufficient to establish Respondents’ duty and to defeat Respondents’ motion.

A. Section 323 is the Universal Standard of South Carolina Law for Voluntarily Undertaken Duties.

For negligence claims, a legal duty may be created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or another special circumstance. Jensen v. Anderson Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 304 S.C. 195, 199, 403 S.E.2d 615, 617 (1991). This Court has ruled that, in general, the landlord-tenant relationship does not impose on landlords a duty to secure their premises for tenants’ benefit. Cramer v. Balcor Prop. Mgmt., Inc., 312 S.C. 440, 443, 441 S.E.2d 317, 318-19 (1994) (“Cramer I”). Cramer I, however, made certain its holding was a general rule, not a blanket one. Id. at 319 n. 1, 441 S.E.2d at 443 n. 1 (noting a tenant “is not precluded from

asserting a general negligence principle”). One such “general negligence principle” excepted from Cramer I’s rule is this voluntarily undertaken duty rule:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other’s person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking if

- (a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm; or
- (b) the harm is suffered because of the other’s reliance upon the undertaking.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 (1965). Section 323 had been South Carolina law for a decade when Cramer I was decided, and Cramer I neither held nor suggested Section 323 does not apply in the apartment security context.

In fact, all voluntarily undertaken tort duties are “rooted” in Section 323. Johnson v. Robert E. Lee Acad., Inc., 401 S.C. 500, 504, 737 S.E.2d 512, 514 (Ct. App. 2012); Wright, 413 S.C. at 291, 775 S.E.2d at 407 (Lockemy J., dissenting). South Carolina courts began applying Section 323 in Roundtree Villas Association v. 4701 Kings Corp., 282 S.C. 415, 423, 321 S.E.2d 46, 50-51 (1984).¹ Roundtree was also a case involving residential rental units which held that a lender who took over construction repairs at a condo project had a duty to use reasonable care in conducting the repairs. Id. The lender had no independent obligation, but having undertaken repairs, the lender could face liability for performing them negligently. Id. at 423, 321 S.E.2d at 51 (“a common law duty to use due care arose” from the lender’s undertaking). The following year, the Court of Appeals applied Section 323 twice to create a duty in wildly varying circumstances. Crowley v. Spivey, 285 S.C. 397, 329 S.E.2d 774 (Ct. App. 1985); Winburn v. Ins. Co. of N. Am., 287 S.C. 435, 339 S.E.2d 142 (Ct. App. 1985). Under Section 323, a party may be charged with the very serious duty to supervise an emotionally disturbed relative

¹ The Court first considered Section 323 in Shropshire v. Jones, 277 S.C. 468, 471, 289 S.E.2d 410, 411 (1982), but did not apply it there because the defendant never actually undertook to provide services on the plaintiff’s behalf.

(Crowley) or the menial duty to oversee boat repairs (Winburn) if the party volunteers for and attempts the task. Voluntarily undertaken duties may be imposed on a textile company controlling water levels in a reservoir or a police officer assisting an intoxicated bar patron. Miller v. City of Camden, 317 S.C. 28, 33-34, 451 S.E.2d 401, 404 (Ct. App. 1994); Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 340 (1991).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals has previously considered Section 323 in the apartment security context. Goode, 329 S.C. at 445, 494 S.E.2d at 833. In Goode, a tenant's social guest attacked in an apartment complex's common area alleged the landlord undertook a duty to provide reasonable security by undertaking routine inspections and periodically notifying tenants of crime occurring in the area. Id. at 438-39, 494 S.E.2d at 830. Goode considered but ultimately refused to find a voluntary undertaking because a tenant's guest was not the intended recipient of the security program's benefits and, since the guest was unaware of the program, he could not have relied on it when entering the complex. Regardless of its outcome, Goode is crucial to this case because it shows Section 323 is the proper analytical framework for the duty Ms. Wright asserts. Plus, Ms. Wright has a much stronger claim than the Goode plaintiff because, as a tenant, she was the intended beneficiary of Respondents' courtesy officer program and she relied on the program when choosing to live at Wellspring.

Respondents have suggested applying Section 323 to Ms. Wright's claim represents bad public policy. (App. p. 43). However, South Carolina courts have never doubted the policy wisdom of Section 323. The cases on which Respondents rely only caution against expanding the recognition of voluntarily assumed duties in situations that do not meet Section 323's requirements. For example, in Staples v. Duell, 329 S.C. 503, 510, 494 S.E.2d 639, 643 (Ct. App. 1997), the court's policy concern was not Section 323's viability but the plaintiff's attempt

to expand its application beyond its recognized requirements. Staples did not hold that the defendant could not undertake a legal duty, it held only that an undertaking would require proof the defendant's service "either increases the risk of harm to others or others detrimentally rely" on the service. Id.; see also Johnson, 401 S.C. at 506, 737 S.E.2d at 515 (noting this court's "reluctance to expand the voluntary assumption of duty doctrine beyond the circumstances set forth in the Restatement 323").

Additionally, Respondents base their policy argument on cases that present very different duty claims. Respondents cite Staples and Underwood v. Coponen, 367 S.C. 214, 219, 625 S.E.2d 236, 239 (Ct. App. 2006), both of which considered a landowner's proposed duty to perform tree maintenance for the benefit of motorists traveling on adjacent highways. Both held a landowner's prudent choice to periodically trim plants near her property line would be discouraged if doing so would expose her to liability to the motoring public. In each of these cases, there was no existing relationship between the parties and no self-interested business motive for inspecting and trimming the trees. In those circumstances, the fear of a "chilling effect" is real. Here, however, Ms. Wright was Respondents' tenant, and Respondents' courtesy officer program was not a benevolent undertaking. Instead, the program was a calculated business decision designed to entice tenants to choose Wellspring over its competitors. (App. p. 383 at 40:25-41:6; 391 at 56:7-8). Requiring Respondents to take reasonable care for their business-boosting undertakings does not run afoul of South Carolina public policy.

In sum, Section 323 applies to all types of voluntarily undertaken duties in any factual context and has been applied to apartment security cases both in South Carolina and a number of

other jurisdictions.² Since Section 323 applies universally to voluntarily assumed duties and Ms. Wright bases her claim on Respondents' undertakings at Wellspring, the Court of Appeals should have applied Section 323 when considering the circuit court's summary judgment order.

B. The Court of Appeals' Ruling does not Contain a Section 323 Analysis or its Equivalent.

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