THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2015-001921

RECEIVED
DEC 05 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Denise Wright Petitioner,

v.

PRG Real Estate Management,
Inc.; Franklin Pineridge
Associates; Karen Campbell
Individually, and in her
Representative Capacity as an
Agent of PRG Real Estate
Management Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Brian A. Comer
Christian Stegmaier
Collins & Lacy, P.C.
1330 Lady Street, Sixth Floor (29201)
Post Office Box 12487
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803)256-2660
(803)771-4484 (facsimile)

*Attorneys for Respondents PRG Real

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

⁵ Even Cooke, which Petitioner argues correctly applied the affirmative acts exception (Pet.'s Br. at 11-12), noted there needed to be some connection between the alleged negligence and the proximate cause of the loss. In analyzing the undertaking exception, Cooke noted "if a plaintiff offers evidence that a landlord had been asked to repair a lock on a door, and that work was performed negligently, a crime committed by a person **entering through that door** may present an actionable negligence claim against the landlord under South Carolina law." Cooke, 741 F. Supp. at 1212 (emphasis added). However, the mere allegation the lock was "inadequate" was a "far cry" from established principles of South Carolina law to be actionable. Id. Conversely, the Court found the connection was present with regard to the claim that an unsecured ladder may have been used to access the apartment.

duty arises from the foreseeability that Defendant's failure to defend the citation would result in his arrest and incarceration is **attenuated at best.**" *Id.* (emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals applied this same principle in *Wright*. Although Respondents undertook a courtesy officer program, the voluntary undertaking contemplated times when an officer would not be on duty or the position may be vacant. *Wright*, 413 S.C. at 288, 775 S.E.2d at 405-06. The Court held the fact that the courtesy officer position was vacant at the time was a circumstance too attenuated from the kidnapping and robbery of Petitioner to establish a duty to provide security. *Id.* This application of the affirmative acts exception comports with *Cramer I's* rule that the duty question is a function of a showing of negligence constituting the proximate cause of the loss.⁶

Petitioner next argues this rule for reaching a determination of the duty question "should not be considered an acceptable substitute for Section 323 because it did not address Section 323's most important components" (Pet.'s Br. at 14). As already discussed, the majority of South Carolina's landlord-tenant security cases have not cited Section 323 or engaged in an analysis of reliance and/or increase in the risk of harm. Courts have applied the affirmative acts exception and *Cramer I/Jackson's* rule.

However, this application is not at odds with Section 323. Section 323 imposes a duty where "(a) [the] failure to exercise such care **increases the risk of harm**, or (b) the harm is suffered **because of** the other's reliance on the undertaking." (Emphasis added). Inherent within each subsection is some analysis of a causal connection between the injury and the voluntary undertaking. There mere act of voluntary undertaking, by itself, is insufficient to show a duty.

⁶ Petitioner assumes that because duty is a question of law for the Court to decide, the Court is barred from any consideration of proximate cause whatsoever. (Pet.'s Br. at 12-13). This is not the rule as set forth in *Cramer I/Jackson* for when a duty may arise.

Otherwise, subsections (a) and (b) to Section 323 would not exist. This is not at odds with this Court's rule in Cramer I and Jackson for when a duty may arise under the particular circumstances of a case: a showing of negligence constituting the proximate cause of the injury. It is also supported by the Court's analysis of whether a duty arose pursuant to Section 323 in McPherson.

This analysis is also the proper approach for determining whether a party assumes a duty to provide security. As noted in Cooke and Cramer I, South Carolina's appellate courts have adopted a "cautious approach" with regard to this question. Cooke, 741 F. Supp. at 1213; Cramer I, 312 S.C. at 443, 441 S.E.2d at 318. The Court's rule in Cramer I/Jackson and application of the affirmative acts exception allows flexibility to determine if imposition of a duty under particular circumstances promotes good public policy. The Court of Appeals recognized this issue in Wright in finding Petitioner's argument that shrubbery maintenance and lighting did not give rise to a duty provide security, as it created the risk that Cramer I would be "swallowed" by the affirmative acts exception. Wright, 413 S.C. at 289, 775 S.E.2d at 406.

This recognition also comports with South Carolina case law interpreting Section 323 in such a way to ensure it does not have a chilling effect on conduct that inures to the public good. See, e.g., Johnson v. Robert E. Lee Academy, 401 S.C. 500, 737 S.E.2d 512 (Ct. App. 2012) ("[C]ontorting the Restatement to create a precedent that may have a chilling effect on . . . conduct that inures to the public good is ill-advised and poor public policy."). If Respondents' decision to provide a courtesy officer program, lighting, and shrubbery maintenance also required they ensure the security of tenants from criminal activity, then such contortion of

Section 323 would discourage landlords from voluntarily providing such programs. Under these circumstances, the Court of Appeals has held Section 323 should not impose a duty.⁷

II. Even if Petitioner is Correct, the Court of Appeals Should Have Directly Applied Section 323, Petitioner Cannot Satisfy Its Requirements.

Respondents have shown Section 323 is not a “glaring omission” from the Court of Appeals’ analysis in Wright based on how courts have applied the law of voluntarily undertaken duties in the landlord-tenant context. However, assuming (for the sake of argument) Petitioner is correct, Petitioner cannot satisfy Section 323’s requirements to show Respondents undertook a duty to provide security. In the second section of her brief, Petitioner argues Respondents failed to exercise reasonable care in operating the courtesy officer program, she relied it to her detriment, and Respondents’ operation of the program increased her risk of harm. (Pet.’s Br. at 15-23). The record does not support a duty based on application of Section 323.

⁷ See also Underwood v. Coponen, 367 S.C. 214, 219 n. 3, 625 S.E.2d 236, 239 n. 3 (Ct. App. 2006) (“If we extended the duty to require private landowners to ensure that their trees do not hinder traffic control devices, we would be discouraging private landowners from voluntarily maintaining vegetation on their property which adjoins a public roadway or highway in an effort to shield themselves from unwarranted liability.”); Staples v. Duell, 329 S.C. 503, 510, 494 S.E.2d 639, 643 (Ct. App.1997) (declining to impose duty on defendant to inspect property under circumstances because doing so “would create the highly undesirable precedent of encouraging rural landowners to shield their eyes and never inspect their land”).

Petitioner distinguishes these cases by arguing the different relationship Respondents had with Petitioner (*i.e.*, its resident) and the program was a “calculated business decision designed to entice residents to choose Wellspring over its competitors.” (Pet.’s Br. at 10). No part of Section 323 distinguishes between relationships between a party undertaking to provide services and a party who may experience physical harm. Furthermore, Petitioner cites to nothing in the record to support her arguments that the courtesy officer program was to “entice tenants” and “help it stand out from the pack.” (Pet.’s Br. at 5). The only citation for this argument is Petitioner’s testimony about the courtesy officer program as an amenity, and the record does not support Petitioner relied on the program in making her decision to lease an apartment at Wellspring. Respondents thoroughly address this issue on pages 30 to 33 of this brief.

A. The Courtesy Officer Program Was Not “Necessary” to or Designed for Petitioner’s Protection.

Section 323 addresses the undertaking of services a party “should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other’s person or things” (Emphasis added). It “establishes a duty on one who undertakes to render services for the protection of another.” Sherer, 290 S.C. at 407, 351 S.E.2d at 150. Respondents admit they provided a courtesy officer program. However, the program was not designed, intended, or expected to protect Petitioner from abduction by two armed criminals, and Petitioner overstates the program in her attempt to create a duty.

As set forth in the Statement of Facts, the program was for customer service, not private security. At all times, Wellspring was subject to jurisdiction of the Richland County Sheriff’s Department, which patrolled Wellspring’s complex. (App. p. 226 at 26, lines 1-12; App. p. 714 at 25, lines 12-16). The program was not a private security detail licensed by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division with the authority and arrest powers of a deputy sheriff. S.C. Code § 40-18-20 et seq.; id. at § 40-18-110. It could not interfere with local law enforcement. (App. p. 714 at 27, lines 5-17). Courtesy officers were not Wellspring employees. (App. p. 497). Wellspring undertook no responsibility for training them to serve in the position. An officer had to be a member of law enforcement with jurisdiction over Wellspring, and s/he agreed to walk Wellspring’s property while off-duty and be available to answer calls. It only required the officer to walk the property for two hours per day and otherwise be available to answer calls from residents for non-life threatening issues. The courtesy officer was not to carry a firearm (unless required by his employer).⁸

⁸ It is noteworthy that in Zambito v. Occidental Fire & Casualty Co. of North Carolina, No. 9:16-cv-03039-DCN, 2016 WL 7239279 (D.S.C. Dec. 15, 2016), the District Court for the District of South Carolina addressed a motion to remand and discussed the courtesy officer program in Wright as compared to the security program at issue in that case. The defendants removed the

There is no doubt Wellspring wanted residents to be vigilant, as would any apartment complex, homeowner's association, or community association. Therefore, it is no surprise Wellspring included in its newsletter, "Security is also very top priority with us. So please call the security pager or Richland County Sheriff's Department if you see anything suspicious." (App. p. 501). However, Petitioner now equates a request for vigilance to be an undertaking to provide security, arguing the security pager was a "first-line option for addressing suspicious activity on par with calling police." (Pet.'s Br. at 17). This is a gross overstatement.

In having a courtesy officer program, Respondents did not undertake to protect Petitioner from abduction by two armed criminals any more than they undertook for the courtesy officer to serve as a lifeguard by having him lock/unlock the pool gate. (App. p. 315). Respondents did not recognize the service as "necessary" for the protection of Petitioner's person or things as set forth in Section 323.

case to federal court based on their argument that a property owner's association had been fraudulently joined to defeat diversity. The defendants argued the property's owner's association had no duty to keep the common areas secure from criminal activity, making it an improper defendant. The Court disagreed.

In Wright, the court found that even under the affirmative acts exception, the creation of a courtesy officer program did not impose a duty to exercise reasonable care in providing security at the complex. Here, HHPPOA maintains 27 full-time Security Officers who are directly employed by the HHPPOA, and are responsible for enforcing the "stringent" requirements for entering the community. The Security Officers of the HHPPOA are responsible for providing a number of services, including "access control to the Plantation at three gates" and "enforcement of ... Plantation regulations." This veritable fleet of Security Officers is distinguishable from the voluntary courtesy officer program in Wright, where the apartment complex contemplated in the creation of the program itself that there would be times when there was no courtesy officer on duty.

Id. at *3.

B. Petitioner’s Arguments for How Respondents Failed to Exercise Reasonable Care in Operating the Courtesy Officer Question Are Irrelevant to the Question of Whether Respondents Had a Duty.

Petitioner expends a substantial portion of her brief arguing Respondents failed to comply with the terms of its Courtesy Officer Agreement when the position was filled, and generally arguing facts not previously argued to the Court of Appeals and/or not in the record to overstate it as a as a “robust,” “comprehensive, and “broad, intensive” program to provide security. (Pet.’s Br. at 5, 16-17). Petitioner admits “[t]his is the breach element of Mrs. Wright’s negligence claim.” (Pet.’s Br. at 16).

As such, these arguments are a red herring and irrelevant to whether Petitioner can establish a voluntary undertaking of a duty by Respondents. The adoption of policies relating to a courtesy officer program by themselves do not create a duty under Section 323. Rather, they can only serve as evidence of the standard of care if the duty is established by law. See Doe ex rel. Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 393 S.C. 240, 247, 711 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2011) (“[I]f no duty has been established, evidence as to the standard of care is irrelevant. Only when there is a duty would a standard of care need to be established.”); id. at 248, 711 S.E.2d at 912 (holding Wal-Mart did not voluntarily undertake a duty despite creating an internal policy that its photo technician violated by destroying photographs depicting child abuse and not informing the store manager or keeping them as evidence, and finding the policy only served as evidence of the standard of care). Any violation of an internal policy by Respondents does not give rise to the voluntary assumption of a duty and does not establish Respondents owed a duty as a matter of law.

Nevertheless, Petitioner discusses at length various ways she claims Respondents failed to act with due care in operating the courtesy officer program, and she argues facts not in the

record based on speculation.⁹ (Pet.’s Br. at 17-20). She provides this analysis in response to the Court of Appeals’ statement in Wright that even if Respondents undertook a duty to perform a courtesy officer program, there was “no evidence they failed to exercise reasonable care in fulfilling that duty. (Pet.’s Br. at 19) (quoting Wright, 413 S.C. at 288, 775 S.E.2d at 406). Petitioner argues “[b]ased on the evidence detailed above, this conclusion was in error.” (Pet.’s Br. at 19).

Petitioner’s problem is—other than her argument that the courtesy officer position was vacant at the time of her abduction—her opposition to summary judgment and her Final Brief to the Court of Appeals did not raise any other evidence of Respondents’ alleged failure to operate the program with due care. (Compare App. pp. 324 to 353, at 13-18 (Pl.’s Memo. in Opp. to Summary Judgment) and App. pp. 818-870, at 20-29 (Final Br. of Appellant) to Pet.’s Br. at 17-20). Based on what Petitioner argued to the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals in her briefs, the Court of Appeals correctly held there was no evidence the program was operated with less than due care. Wright, 413 S.C. at 287, 775 S.E.2d at 405 (noting the arguments raised by Petitioner to be the patrols for two hours per day, provision of a security pager, publication of the security pager in a newsletter, and the vacancy of the position).

Petitioner’s motive in raising these alleged deficiencies now is clear. In spite of Respondents’ admission there was no courtesy officer in place at the time of Petitioner’s abduction, she seeks to overturn summary judgment by coloring this Court’s view of Respondents based on alleged deficiencies not previously raised and relating to operation of the

⁹ For example, Petitioner argues the program’s requirement that courtesy officers make daily written reports was to “report responses to calls, to note security risks throughout the premises, or to report any suspicious incidents observed during patrols.” (Pet.’s Br. at 17). There is no citation in the record to this purported purpose of the reporting requirement, and it is equally likely the reporting requirement served no purpose other than ensuring the courtesy officer was doing what was asked by Wellspring in order to receive reduced rent.

program when the courtesy officer position was filled. These arguments are (a) irrelevant to the question of duty, (b) irrelevant since the position was vacant at the time of Petitioner’s abduction, and (c) improper based on Petitioner’s failure to preserve them.

C. The Record Does Not Support Petitioner’s Injury Was Because of Her Reliance on Respondents’ Courtesy Officer Program.

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